UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): February 7, 2006

SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

1-13395 (Commission File Number) 56-201079 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

6415 Idlewild Road, Suite 109 Charlotte, North Carolina (Address of principal executive offices)

28212 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (704) 566-2400

 $\label{eq:NA} N/A$ (Former name or former address, if changed since last report.)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:			
	Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)		
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)		
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))		
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))		

Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On February 9, 2006, the Compensation Committee of Sonic Automotive, Inc. ("Sonic") awarded performance bonuses to Sonic's executive officers for 2005. The Compensation Committee certified that the previously disclosed objective, performance-based criteria had been met and authorized award amounts for each of the executive officers under Sonic's Incentive Compensation Plan for the specified levels of achievement within those two performance categories. In addition, the Compensation Committee awarded discretionary cash bonuses to the executive officers in the following amounts: O. Bruton Smith, \$234,667; B. Scott Smith, \$192,000; Jeffrey C. Rachor, \$213,333 and Mark J. Juppenlatz, \$282,000.

Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Principal Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Principal Officers.

On February 9, 2006, Sonic's Board of Directors appointed David P. Cosper as Sonic's Executive Vice President and Treasurer, effective March 1, 2006. Mr. Cosper was also appointed as Chief Financial Officer, and will begin performing the functions of principal financial officer, effective on the first business day following the filing of Sonic's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005. The material terms of the employment agreement between Sonic and Mr. Cosper are incorporated herein by reference from Sonic's Form 8-K filed February 7, 2006.

Prior to joining Sonic, Mr. Cosper, 51, was Chief Financial Officer and Vice Chairman of Ford Motor Credit Company since 2003 and 2004, respectively. In those positions, he was responsible for all financial planning, analysis and accounting operations, as well as risk management, audit and public affairs. Prior to assuming those positions, Mr. Cosper had served as Vice President and Treasurer of Ford Motor Credit since 1998. From 1979 when he joined Ford Motor Company, Mr. Cosper served in a variety of positions at Ford Motor Credit and Ford Motor Company, including assistant treasurer of Ford Motor Company and executive director of Corporate Finance at Ford Motor Company. In such positions, Mr. Cosper was responsible for international treasury issues, risk management, trading and treasury operations, systems and accounting, as well as profit analysis, business planning and competitive and strategic analysis.

On February 7, 2006, Thomas P. Capo informed Sonic that he will not seek re-election to Sonic's Board of Directors. Mr. Capo will serve out his term as a director through the 2006 annual stockholders' meeting.

Item 5.03 Amendments to Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; Change in Fiscal Year.

Sonic's Board of Directors approved amendments to Sonic's bylaws effective February 9, 2006 to phase out the present three-year staggered terms of directors. The new procedures in Section 3.02 of the bylaws will apply to all directors elected at the 2006 annual stockholders' meeting, including any current directors who are re-nominated after their current terms expire. At each annual election of directors by the stockholders beginning in 2006, the directors chosen to succeed those whose terms are then expired will be elected by the stockholders for a one-year term. Section 3.04 of the bylaws was amended to reflect the annual election of directors and to

remove provisions that are no longer necessary now that Sonic's procedures for electing a classified board of directors have been removed. The amendments to the bylaws also included other ministerial changes.

A copy of the amended and restated bylaws is filed herewith as Exhibit 3.1 and is incorporated by reference. The foregoing description of the amended and restated bylaws does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such exhibit.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

- (c) Exhibits.
 - 3.1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sonic Automotive, Inc., adopted February 9, 2006.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

By: /s/ Stephen K. Coss

Stephen K. Coss Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Dated: February 13, 2006

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Description 3.1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sonic Automotive, Inc., adopted February 9, 2006

AMENDED AND RESTATED

BYLAWS

OF

SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

(amended through February 9, 2006)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - REGISTERED AND OTHER OFFICES	1	
SECTION 1.01. REGISTERED OFFICE.	1	
SECTION 1.02. OTHER OFFICES.	1	
ARTICLE 2 - MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS	1	
SECTION 2.01. ANNUAL MEETINGS.	1	
SECTION 2.02. SPECIAL MEETINGS.	1	
SECTION 2.03. NOTICE OF MEETINGS.	2	
SECTION 2.04. STOCKHOLDER LIST.	2	
SECTION 2.06. VOTING.	2	
SECTION 2.07. NO ACTION WITHOUT A MEETING.	3	
SECTION 2.08, ADVANCE NOTICE OF DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS AND OTHER BUSINESS.	3	
ARTICLE 3 – DIRECTORS		
SECTION 3.01. POWERS.	4	
SECTION 3.02. NUMBER AND TERM.	4	
SECTION 3.03. RESIGNATIONS.	5	
SECTION 3.04. VACANCIES.	5	
SECTION 3.05. REMOVAL.	5	
SECTION 3.06. MEETINGS; PLACE AND TIME.	5	
SECTION 3.07. REGULAR ANNUAL MEETING.	5	
SECTION 3.08, OTHER REGULAR MEETINGS.	5	
SECTION 3.09. SPECIAL MEETINGS: NOTICE.	6	
SECTION 3.10. QUORUM.	6	
SECTION 3.11. ACTION WITHOUT MEETING.	6	
SECTION 3.12. TELEPHONE MEETINGS.	6	
SECTION 3.13. COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS.	6	
SECTION 3.14. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS.	6	
SECTION 3.15. DIRECTOR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.	7	
ARTICLE 4 - OFFICERS	7	
SECTION 4.01. OFFICERS.	7	
SECTION 4.02. CHAIRMAN; CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.	8	
SECTION 4.03. PRESIDENT.	8	
SZETION INSCRIEDZIAN.		
SECTION 4.04. CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER.	8	
SECTION 4.05. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER.	8	
SECTION 4.07. TREASURER.	8	
SECTION 4.08. SECRETARY.	9	
SECTION 4.09. CONTROLLER, ASSISTANT TREASURERS AND ASSISTANT SECRETARIES.	9	
SECTION 4.10. REMOVAL; RESIGNATIONS; VACANCIES.	9	
SECTION 4.11. COMPENSATION.	9	
SECTION 4.12. MECHANICAL ENDORSEMENT.	9	
ARTICLE 5 – MISCELLANEOUS	10	
SECTION 5.01. STOCK CERTIFICATES.	10	
SECTION 5.02. STOCKHOLDERS RECORD DATE.	11	
SECTION 5.03. REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS.	11	
SECTION 5.04. DIVIDENDS.	11	
SECTION 5.05. SEAL.	11	
SECTION 5.06. FISCAL YEAR.	11	
SECTION 5.07. CHECKS.	12	
SECTION 5.08. NOTICE AND WAIVER OF NOTICE.	12	
SECTION 5.09. BOOKS AND RECORDS.	12	
ARTICLE 6 - INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS	12	
SECTION 6.01. INDEMNIFICATION.	12	

i

SECTION 6.02. PROCEDURE FOR INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.	13
SECTION 6.03. PAYMENT OF EXPENSES IN ADVANCE.	14
SECTION 6.04. INDEMNIFICATION NOT EXCLUSIVE.	14
SECTION 6.05. OTHER.	14
SECTION 6.06. INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS.	14
SECTION 6.07. INSURANCE.	14
SECTION 6.08. CONTINUED COVERAGE.	14
ARTICLE 7- AMENDMENTS	15
ARTICLE 8- CONFLICT OF TERMS	15

AMENDED AND RESTATED

BYLAWS

OF

SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

ARTICLE 1 - REGISTERED AND OTHER OFFICES

SECTION 1.01. REGISTERED OFFICE.

The address of the initial registered office in the State of Delaware and the name of the initial registered agent of Sonic Automotive, Inc. (the <u>Corporation</u>") at such address are set forth in the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation (the "<u>Certificate of Incorporation</u>"). The Corporation may, from time to time, designate a different address as its registered office or a different person as its registered agent, or both; <u>provided, however</u>, that such designation shall become effective upon the filing of a statement of such change with the Department of State of the State of Delaware as is required by law.

SECTION 1.02. OTHER OFFICES.

The Corporation may have other offices, either within or without the State of Delaware, at such place or places as the Board of Directors (the <u>Board</u>") may from time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.

ARTICLE 2 - MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

SECTION 2.01. ANNUAL MEETINGS.

Annual meetings of stockholders for the election of directors and for the transaction of any other business properly brought before the stockholders in accordance with Section 2.08 hereof shall be held at such place, either within or without the State of Delaware, and at such time and date as the Board, by resolution, shall determine and as set forth in the notice of the meeting.

If the date of the annual meeting shall fall upon a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. At each annual meeting, the stockholders entitled to vote shall elect directors to succeed those directors whose term expires at such annual meeting and may transact such other business as is properly brought before the stockholders in accordance with Section 2.08 hereof.

SECTION 2.02. SPECIAL MEETINGS.

Special meetings of the stockholders, for any purpose, unless otherwise prescribed by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation, may be called only by the Chairman of the Board and shall be called by the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, at the request in writing of a majority of the directors. Such request shall state the purpose of the proposed meeting. At each

special meeting, the stockholders may transact only the business that is properly brought before the stockholders in accordance with Section 2.08 hereof. If a special meeting is adjourned to another time or place, the stockholders may only transact business at the adjourned meeting that may have properly been transacted at the original meeting.

SECTION 2.03. NOTICE OF MEETINGS.

Written notice, stating the place, date and time of any annual or special meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting in accordance with Delaware law, by or at the direction of the Board or the person or persons calling the meeting, not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting. If mailed, then such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the stockholder at his address as it appears on the stock transfer books of the Corporation.

SECTION 2.04. STOCKHOLDER LIST.

The officer or agent who has charge of the stock ledger of the Corporation shall, at least ten (10) days before each meeting of stockholders, prepare a complete alphabetical list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the ensuing meeting, with the address and the number and class and series, if any, of shares held by each. Said list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held. The list shall be available for inspection at the meeting.

SECTION 2.05. QUORUM.

Except as otherwise required by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "Act"), by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, a majority of the shares entitled to vote, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of stockholders. When a specified item of business is required to be voted on by a class or series of stock, a majority of the shares of such class or series, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of such item of business by that class or series. After a quorum has been established at a stockholders' meeting, the subsequent withdrawal of stockholders, so as to reduce the number of shares entitled to vote at the meeting below the number required for a quorum, shall not affect the validity of any action taken at the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

SECTION 2.06. VOTING.

If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by shares entitled to vote on the subject matter shall be the act of the stockholders, unless the vote of a greater number or voting by class is required by the Act, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Where a separate vote by class is required, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by shares of such class shall be the act of such class unless the vote of a greater

number is required by the Act, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Each outstanding share, regardless of class, shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders, except as may otherwise be provided by the Act or by the Certificate of Incorporation. The affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast by shares entitled to vote on the election of directors shall be sufficient to elect directors. Cumulative voting of shares is prohibited. A stockholder may vote either in person or by proxy executed in writing by the stockholder or his duly authorized attorney-in-fact.

SECTION 2.07. NO ACTION WITHOUT A MEETING.

No action required to be taken or that may be taken at an annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation may be taken without a meeting, and the power of stockholders to consent in writing, without a meeting, to the taking of any action is specifically denied.

SECTION 2.08. ADVANCE NOTICE OF DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS AND OTHER BUSINESS.

(a) Director Nominations. Subject to any rights of holders of Preferred Stock, only persons who are selected and recommended by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors established to make nominations, or who are nominated by stockholders in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.08, shall be eligible for election at any annual or special stockholders meeting. Nominations of individuals for election to the Board of Directors of the Corporation at any annual meeting or any special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected may be made by a stockholder of the Corporation entitled to vote for the election of directors at that meeting as hereinafter set forth. Nominations by stockholders shall be delivered to the Corporation in accordance with subsection 2.08(c) hereof and shall be made by written notice (a "Nomination Notice"), which shall set forth, (i) as to each individual nominated, (A) the name, date of birth, business address and residence address of such individual and (B) such other information regarding each individual nominated that is to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for an election of directors, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules promulgated thereunder, and, (ii) as to the stockholder submitting the Nomination Notice and any person acting in concert with such stockholder, (w) the name and business address of such stockholder and each such person, (x) the name and business address of such stockholder and each such person as they appear on the Corporation's books along with a representation that such stockholder is a stockholder of record of shares of the Corporation's capital stock entitled to vote at the meeting to which the notice pertains and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person(s) in the notice, (y) a description of all arrangements, understandings or relationships between the stockholder and each nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person(s)) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be made by the stockholder and (z) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by such stockholder and each such person. A written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director of the Corporation if elected, signed by each nominee, shall be filed with any Nomination Notice. If the presiding officer at any meeting of the stockholders determines that any nomination was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by these Bylaws, then he shall so declare to the stockholders at the meeting, and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.

(b) Stockholder Business. At any meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be properly brought before a meeting, business must be (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (b) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (c) properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder of record (who was also a stockholder of record at the time of giving of the notice) in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.08. A stockholder's written notice (a "Business Notice") shall set forth, as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting: (i) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, (ii) the name and business address of record of the stockholder proposing such business, (iii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by the stockholder and (iv) any material interest of the stockholder in such business. If the presiding officer at any meeting of stockholders determines that business was not properly brought before the meeting, then he shall so declare to the stockholders at the meeting, and any such business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.

(c) <u>Delivery of Notices</u>. To be timely, any Nomination Notice or Business Notice must be delivered to, or mailed and received at, the principal executive office of the Corporation, (i) in the case of an annual meeting that is called for a date that is within thirty (30) days before or after the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders, not less than sixty (60) days nor more than ninety (90) days prior to such anniversary date, and (ii) in the case of an annual meeting that is called for a date that is not within thirty (30) days before or after the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting, or in the case of a special meeting of stockholders called for the purpose of electing directors, not later than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the meeting was made, whichever occurs first.

ARTICLE 3 – DIRECTORS

SECTION 3.01. POWERS.

The business of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board, which may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws specifically reserved to the stockholders.

SECTION 3.02. NUMBER AND TERM.

The Board shall consist of not less than three (3) nor more than thirteen (13) directors as a majority of the Board shall from time to time specify. No reduction in the number of directors shall have the effect of shortening the term of any incumbent director and when so fixed such number shall continue to be the authorized number of directors until changed in accordance herewith. At the 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, the successors of the directors whose term expires at such meeting will be elected for a one year term expiring at the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders. At the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders, the successors of the

directors whose term expires at such meeting will be elected for a one year term expiring at the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders. Thereafter, at each annual meeting of stockholders, the successors of directors whose term expires at an annual meeting of stockholders will be elected for a one year term expiring at the next annual meeting of stockholders. Each director shall serve until his successor shall have been elected and qualified or until his earlier resignation, removal or death.

SECTION 3.03. RESIGNATIONS.

Any director or member of a committee may resign at any time. Such resignation shall be made in writing, and shall take effect at the time specified therein, and, if no time be specified, at the time of its receipt by the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Secretary. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective, unless otherwise specified therein.

SECTION 3.04. VACANCIES.

Subject to any rights of holders of Preferred Stock, any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including any vacancy created by reason of an increase in the number of directors, removal, resignation or death, may only be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, or by a sole remaining director, as the case may be, and the director(s) so chosen shall hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his(their) successors are duly elected and qualified, or until his(their) earlier resignation or removal.

SECTION 3.05. REMOVAL.

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws to the contrary, a director may not be removed during his term except for cause.

SECTION 3.06. MEETINGS; PLACE AND TIME.

The Board may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware, as it may from time to time determine.

SECTION 3.07. REGULAR ANNUAL MEETING.

A regular annual meeting of the Board shall be held immediately following the annual meeting of stockholders at the same place or at such time and place as shall be fixed by the vote of the stockholders at the annual meeting and no notice of such meeting shall be necessary to the newly elected directors in order legally to constitute the meeting, provided a majority of such Board shall be present.

SECTION 3.08. OTHER REGULAR MEETINGS.

Regular meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by the Board.

SECTION 3.09. SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE.

Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chairman of the Board or the President or by the written request of two (2) directors. Written notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be given to each director by either personal delivery, telegram, cablegram or telefax at least seven (7) days before the meeting, or by notice mailed to each director at least ten (10) days before the meeting. Notice of a meeting need not be given to any director who submits a waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to him.

SECTION 3.10. QUORUM.

At all meetings of the Board, a majority of the directors then serving shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board, the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

SECTION 3.11. ACTION WITHOUT MEETING.

Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board, or of any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.

SECTION 3.12. TELEPHONE MEETINGS.

Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, members of the Board, or of any committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of the Board or such committee by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

SECTION 3.13. COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS.

The Board may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board, designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. Each such committee may be terminated by the Board at such time as the Board may determine.

SECTION 3.14. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS.

Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Board shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors. By resolution of the Board, the

directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board (and any committee thereof), a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board (and any committee thereof), and a stated salary as director. Nothing herein contained shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

SECTION 3.15. DIRECTOR CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.

No contract or other transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or between the Corporation and any other corporation, firm, association or entity in which one or more of the directors of this Corporation are directors or officers or are financially interested, shall be void or voidable solely because of such relationship or interest or solely because such director or directors are present at or participate in the meeting of the Board or a committee thereof which authorizes, approves or ratifies such contract or transaction or solely because his or their votes are counted for such purpose, if:

- A. The material facts as to his or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board or committee, and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or
- B. The material facts as to his or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of such stockholders, or
 - C. The contract or transaction is fair as to the corporation at the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board, a committee or the stockholders.

Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or a committee thereof which authorizes, approves or ratifies such contract or transaction.

ARTICLE 4 - OFFICERS

SECTION 4.01. OFFICERS.

The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a President, a Treasurer and a Secretary, shall be elected by the Board and shall hold office until their successors are elected and qualified, unless such officers resign, die or are removed prior thereto. In addition, the Board may elect a Chairman, a Vice Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Operating Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, a Controller, one or more Vice Presidents or Executive Vice Presidents, and such Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers or other officers as it may deem proper. None of the officers of the Corporation need be stockholders. The officers shall be elected at the first meeting of the Board after each annual meeting. More than two offices may be held by the same person, except the offices of President and Secretary, unless the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws otherwise provide. The Board shall designate the Chairman of the Board or the President as the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation.

SECTION 4.02. CHAIRMAN; CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

The Chairman of the Board, if one is elected, shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and of the Board. The Chairman shall also have and perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board. The Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation shall, subject to the direction of the Board, supervise and control the business and management of the Corporation. The Chief Executive Officer shall also have and perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board.

SECTION 4.03. PRESIDENT.

The President shall have and perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board. If designated as the Chief Executive Officer by the Board, the President shall, subject to the direction of the Board, supervise and control the business and management of the Corporation. If there is no Chairman, or in his absence, the President shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders.

SECTION 4.04. CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER.

The Chief Operating Officer, if one is elected, shall have and perform such duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Chief Executive Officer.

SECTION 4.05. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER.

The Chief Financial Officer, if one is elected, shall have and perform such duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Chief Executive Officer.

SECTION 4.06. VICE PRESIDENTS OR EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENTS.

If Vice Presidents or Executive Vice Presidents be elected, they shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to them by the President.

SECTION 4.07. TREASURER.

The Treasurer shall be responsible for the administration of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate account of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the President, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements. He shall render to the Chairman, the President and the Board at the regular meetings of the Board, or whenever they may request it, an account of all his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation. If required by the Board, he shall give the Corporation a bond for the faithful performance of his duties in such amount and with such surety as the Board shall prescribe.

SECTION 4.08. SECRETARY.

The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of stockholders and directors, and all other notices required by law or by these Bylaws, and in case of his absence or refusal or neglect so to do, any such notice may be given by any person thereunto directed by the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Board. He shall record all the proceedings of the meetings of the Corporation and of the Board in a book to be kept for that purpose. He shall keep in safe custody the seal of the Corporation, and, when authorized by the Board, shall affix the same to any instrument requiring it, and when so affixed, it shall be attested by his signature or by the signature of any Assistant Secretary.

SECTION 4.09. CONTROLLER, ASSISTANT TREASURERS AND ASSISTANT SECRETARIES.

Controller, Assistant Treasurers and Assistant Secretaries, if any be elected, shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to them, respectively, by the Chairman of the Board or the President.

SECTION 4.10. REMOVAL; RESIGNATIONS; VACANCIES.

Any officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed at any time, either for or without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board. Section 3.03 shall apply similarly to resignations of officers. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation may be filled by the Board.

SECTION 4.11. COMPENSATION.

The compensation of officers of the Corporation shall be established by the Board or any compensation committee thereof. The fact that an officer is also a director shall not preclude such person from receiving compensation as either a director or officer, nor shall it affect the validity of any resolution by the Board fixing such compensation. If the Chairman of the Board is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, the Chairman shall have authority to establish the salaries of all other employees of the Corporation. If the Chairman of the Board is not the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, the President shall have authority to establish the salaries of all other employees of the Corporation.

SECTION 4.12. MECHANICAL ENDORSEMENT.

The Chairman of the Board, the President, any Executive Vice President, any Vice President, or the Secretary may authorize any endorsement on behalf of the Corporation to be made by such mechanical means or stamps as any of such officers may deem appropriate.

ARTICLE 5 - MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 5.01. STOCK CERTIFICATES.

- (a) <u>Issuance</u>. The Corporation may issue the shares of stock authorized by its Certificate of Incorporation and none other. Shares may be issued only pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board. Every holder of shares in the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate representing all shares to which he is entitled. No certificate shall be issued for any share until such share is fully paid.
- (b) Signatures. Certificates representing shares in the Corporation shall be signed by or in the name of the Corporation by the Chairman or Vice Chairman, or the President, Executive Vice President or Vice President, and by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, or the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, and may be sealed with the seal of the Corporation or a facsimile thereof. Any or all of the signatures on a certificate may be facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.
- (c) Form. Each certificate representing shares shall state upon the face thereof: the name of the Corporation; that the Corporation is organized under the laws of Delaware; the name of the person or persons to whom it is issued; the number and class of shares, and the designation of the series, if any, which such certificate represents; and the par value of each share represented by such certificate, or a statement that the shares are without par value. Each certificate shall otherwise comply, in all respects, with the requirements of the Act.
- (d) <u>Transfer of Stock</u>. The Corporation shall register a stock certificate presented to it for transfer if the certificate is properly endorsed by the holder of record or by his duly authorized attorney; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Corporation or its transfer agent may require the signature of such person to be guaranteed by a commercial bank or trust company or by a member of the New York or American Stock Exchange.
- (e) <u>Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates</u> The Board may authorize the Corporation to issue a new stock certificate in the place of any certificate previously issued if the holder of record of the certificate (i) makes proof in affidavit form that it has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken; (ii) requests the issue of a new certificate before the Corporation has notice that the certificate has been acquired by a purchaser for value in good faith and without notice of any adverse claim; (iii) gives bond in such form, if any, as the Corporation may direct, to indemnify the Corporation, the transfer agent and registrar against any claim that may be made on account of the alleged loss, destruction or theft of a certificate; and (iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the Corporation.
- (f) <u>Transfer Agents; Registrars; Rules Respecting Certificate</u>. The Board may appoint, or authorize any officer or officers to appoint, one or more transfer agents and one or more registrars. The Board may make such further rules and regulations as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of stock certificates of the Corporation.

SECTION 5.02. STOCKHOLDERS RECORD DATE.

In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board may fix, in advance, a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted and, with respect to record dates to be established in connection with stockholders meetings, which shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting, or, with respect to record dates to be established in connection with other actions, which shall not be more than sixty (60) days prior to such other action. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

SECTION 5.03. REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS.

The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of the State of Delaware.

SECTION 5.04. DIVIDENDS.

Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board may, out of funds legally available therefor at any regular or special meeting, declare dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation as and when they deem expedient. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property or in shares of the capital stock, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation. Before declaring any dividends, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Corporation available for dividends such sum or sums as the Board from time to time in its discretion deems proper for working capital or as a reserve fund to meet contingencies or for such other purpose as the Board shall deem conducive to the interests of the Corporation, and the Board may modify or abolish any such reserve.

SECTION 5.05. SEAL.

The corporate seal shall be circular in form and shall contain the name of the Corporation and the words "CORPORATE SEAL, DELAWARE." Said seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or otherwise reproduced.

SECTION 5.06. FISCAL YEAR.

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be determined by the Board.

SECTION 5.07. CHECKS.

All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money and notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation, and in such manner as shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board. The Treasurer shall deposit all moneys and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be authorized by the Chairman of the Board or the President.

SECTION 5.08. NOTICE AND WAIVER OF NOTICE.

Whenever any notice is required by these Bylaws to be given, personal notice is not meant unless expressly stated, and any notice so required shall be deemed to be sufficient if given by depositing the same in the United States mail, airmail postage prepaid, addressed to the person entitled thereto at his address as it appears on the records of the Corporation, and such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the day of such mailing. Stockholders not entitled to vote shall not be entitled to receive notice of any meetings except as otherwise provided by statute.

Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given under the provisions of any law, or under the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or person entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed proper notice.

SECTION 5.09. BOOKS AND RECORDS.

The Corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of accounts and shall keep minutes of the proceedings of its stockholders, the Board and committees thereof.

ARTICLE 6 - INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS

SECTION 6.01. INDEMNIFICATION.

Any person who has been made or is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (including an action by or in the right of the Corporation) (hereinafter a "proceeding"), by reason of the fact that he is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, fiduciary or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Corporation to the fullest extent authorized by the Act, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended (but, in the case of any such amendment, only to the extent that such amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than said law permitted the Corporation to provide prior to such amendment), against all expenses (including attorneys' fees),

judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Corporation shall indemnify any such person seeking indemnification in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) that was initiated by such person only if such proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized or ratified by the Board. The right to indemnification conferred in this Section 6.01 shall be a contract right.

For purposes of this Section 6.01, reference to the "Corporation" shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and authority to indemnify its directors, officers, fiduciaries and agents so that any person who is or was a director, officer, fiduciary or agent of such constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, fiduciary or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Section 6.01, with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as he would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.

SECTION 6.02. PROCEDURE FOR INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

Any indemnification of a director or officer of the Corporation under Section 6.01 above or advance of expenses under Section 6.03 below shall be made promptly, and in any event within thirty (30) days, upon the written request of the director or officer subject to the following provisions. If a determination by the Board that the director or officer is entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Article 6 is required, and the Corporation fails to respond within sixty (60) days to a written request for indemnity, the Corporation shall be deemed to have approved the request. If the Corporation denies a written request for indemnification or advancing of expenses, in whole or in part, or if payment in full pursuant to such request is not made within thirty (30) days, the right to indemnification or advances as granted by this Article 6 shall be enforceable by the director or officer in any court of competent jurisdiction. Such person's costs and expenses incurred in connection with successfully establishing his or her right to indemnification, in whole or in part, in any such action shall also be indemnified by the Corporation. It shall be a defense to any such action (other than an action brought to enforce a claim for expenses incurred in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition where the required undertaking, if any, has been tendered to the Corporation) that the claimant has not met the standards of conduct which make it permissible under the Act for the Corporation to indemnify the claimant for the amount claimed, but the burden of such defense shall be on the Corporation. Neither the failure of the Corporation (including the Board, independent legal counsel or its stockholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification of the claimant is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that the claimant has not met the applicable standard of conduct

SECTION 6.03. PAYMENT OF EXPENSES IN ADVANCE.

Expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by any person described in Section 6.01 in defending an action, suit or proceeding referred to in Section 6.01 above may be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding as authorized by the Board in the specific case upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in Section 6.01

SECTION 6.04. INDEMNIFICATION NOT EXCLUSIVE.

The indemnification and right to payment of expenses in advance of final disposition provided for under this Article 6 shall not be deemed exclusive of (i) any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any bylaw, any agreement, any insurance purchased by the Corporation, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office or (ii) the power of the Corporation to indemnify any person who is or was an employee or agent of the Corporation or of another corporation, joint venture, trust or enterprise that he is serving or has served at the request of the Corporation, to the same extent and in the same situations and subject to the same determinations with respect to directors and officers.

SECTION 6.05. OTHER.

Any repeal or modification of this Article 6 by the stockholders of the Corporation shall be prospective only, and shall not adversely affect the indemnification of any officer or director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification.

SECTION 6.06. INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS.

The Corporation may enter into indemnification agreements with its officers and Directors.

SECTION 6.07. INSURANCE.

The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a Director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such and which insurance coverage may extend indemnification protection that is broader and more comprehensive than the indemnification benefits granted under this Article.

SECTION 6.08. CONTINUED COVERAGE.

Unless otherwise provided herein, the indemnification extended to a person that has qualified for indemnification under the provisions of this Article shall not be terminated when

the person has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent for all causes of action against the indemnified party based on acts and events occurring prior to the termination of the relationship with the Corporation and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such person.

ARTICLE 7- AMENDMENTS

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal these Bylaws by a majority vote at any regular or special meeting of the Board or by written consent, subject to the power of the stockholders of the Corporation to amend or repeal any Bylaw whether adopted by the Board or the stockholders.

ARTICLE 8- CONFLICT OF TERMS

Except as otherwise explicitly provided in these Bylaws, if any provision contained in these Bylaws is in conflict with, inconsistent with, or imposes greater obligations or burdens than any provision in the Certificate of Incorporation, the provision contained in the Certificate of Incorporation shall govern and control to the extent of such conflict, inconsistency or obligation or burden.